IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

WESLEY MEDICAL CENTER

APPELLANT

VS.

CIVIL ACTION NO. G2008-466 W/4

MISSISSIPPI STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH and FORREST GENERAL HOSPITAL

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE HINDS CHANCERY COURT, FIRST JUDICIAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLANT WESLEY MEDICAL CENTER

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

OF COUNSEL:

Kathryn R. Gilchrist.
David W. Donnell,
ADAMS and REESE LLP
111 East Capitol Street, Suite 350 (39201)
Post Office Box 24297
Jackson, Mississippi 39225-4297
Telephone. (601) 353, 3234

Telephone: (601) 353-3234 Facsimile: (601) 355-9708

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

<u>Issue One</u>: Whether a finding that Forrest General's CON Application is economically viable

is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence.

Issue Two: Whether the Department's determination that Forrest General may relocate a

portion of its orthopedic service, but not the entirety of that service, to a location

remote from the main hospital campus, is contrary to the Department's own rules

and regulations, and thus exceeds its statutory authority.

Issue Three: Whether the Department's finding that there is a need for this project is contrary

to the manifest weight of the evidence.

Issue Four: Whether, in the face of its undisputed financial statistics, Forrest General's

Application to relocate a portion of its orthopedic service can reasonably be found to be

consistent with the General Goal of the State Health Plan that it accomplish "some cost

containment."

659432_2.DOC

1

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a decision of the Mississippi State Department of Health ("the Department") on a Certificate of Need (CON) Application. The Appellee, Forrest General Hospital ("Forrest General"), is a Mississippi, not-for-profit, tax-exempt general acute care hospital, owned by Forrest County. Forrest General operates five-hundred, twelve (512) beds and is governed by a seven-member board of trustees. Forrest General proposes to relocate thrity (30) of its existing thirty-seven (37) orthopedic beds to a new hospital facility to be constructed on behalf of Forrest General by one of two orthopedic groups practicing in the Hattiesburg area – Southern Bone and Joint Specialists ("SBJ"). The proposal is that SBJ will build the new facility adjacent to SBJ's clinic offices and single specialty ambulatory surgery center, but in a location remote from Forrest General's hospital campus, and lease space to the hospital for operation of the relocated portion of its orthopedic service. Staff Analysis at 1 (Hrg Ex. 3).

On December 1, 2005, Forrest General filed a CON Application seeking approval from Department of its plan to construct a new "hospital facility" and to relocate thirty (30) orthopedic beds to that facility where they would continue to be operated as orthopedic acute care beds. As the basis for its Application, Forrest General stated that the wing of its current facility where orthopedic services are primarily provided is outdated and too small to easily accommodate wheelchairs and other equipment commonly encountered in the treatment of orthopedic patients. CON App. at II-2, 3; III (Hrg. Ex. 2). Forrest General contended that its plan to relocate thirty (30) of its orthopedic beds to the proposed new location adjacent to Hattiesburg's largest orthopedic group (SBJ) would benefit the hospital by forging a closer bond between it and the orthopods. Forrest General took the position that this relocation would not cause any adverse

Exhibits from the Hearing on this matter (which are in the Record) are referred to herein as "Hrg. Ex. ____." Referenced portions of the Hearing transcript are referred to by the name of the witness and the transcript page number. Where referenced portions of the record are being provided along with this brief, that is noted by either R.E. (record excerpt) or App. (Appendix).

impact to existing service providers in the service area because it will not add any bed capacity to the service area, and therefore (according to Forrest General) will not be in a position to take patients from the existing providers. CON App. at III-7 (Hrg. Ex. 2).

Forrest General argues that the project will be financially feasible and estimates it will experience a loss of \$2,323,000 in the first year, a loss of \$831,000 in the second year, and an income in year three of \$155,000. Ex. I to CON App. (Hrg. Ex. 2).

After considering the Application, the Department's Staff issued its Staff Analysis recommending approval of the Application. Wesley Medical Center ("Wesley") filed a timely Request for a Hearing During the Course of Review.

CON applications for the construction of a healthcare facility and those for the relocation of acute care beds are subject to review in accordance with Miss. Code Ann. §41-7-191(1)(d)(xii) (1972, as amended), as well as duly adopted rules, procedures, plans, criteria and standards of the Department. The Department reviews all such applications for compliance with the State Health Plan in effect when the application is filed – in this case the 2006 State Health Plan ("SHP") – and Section I of the Mississippi Certificate of Need Review Manual.

The Hearing requested by Wesley took place on August 14 – 15, 2007. Wesley participated in the Hearing as an affected party as permitted in the CON Review Manual. At the hearing, legal representatives for Forrest General, Wesley, and the Department were present. Thirteen (13) witnesses testified, and twenty (20) exhibits were either identified or introduced into evidence. Approximately sixty (60) days following the Hearing, the parties submitted their post-hearing briefs (proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law), and the Hearing Officer issued her opinion on January 25, 2008. In her opinion, the Hearing Officer found that Forrest General's project satisfies the requirement of economic viability, that it constitutes a permissible relocation of beds and services, and that there exists a need for that relocation. She

3

recommended that the Application be approved, and at the monthly CON meeting, the State Health Officer concurred in that recommendation, approving the Application. Hrg. Officer's Final Opinion (R.E. 3).

Wesley timely appealed the Department's decision to the Chancery Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County. Wesley contended before Judge Patricia Wise that the Hearing Officer's opinion was inconsistent with the law, exceeded the statutory authority granted to the Department, and contained multiple conclusions and findings that were contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. Judge Wise considered the briefs of the parties and heard oral argument on the matter. She issued her opinion, dated June 20, 2008, affirming the Department's decision. Chancellor's Opinion (R.E. 2).

Contrary to the conclusions of both the Hearing Officer and the Chancellor,² Forrest General did not satisfy the requirements imposed on its Application by either the SHP or the CON Review Manual. As is demonstrated herein, the Department exceeded its power by giving approval to an Application for a project that will not be economically viable, that proposes an illegal relocation of a portion of a service, and for which there is no real need. Its findings were in some respects contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. The Chancellor, likewise, erred. Both the Department and the Chancellor should be reversed, and Forrest General's Application remanded for disapproval.

The Court should note that in this case the Hearing Officer's opinion was, in its entirety, nothing more than a near-verbatim copy of Forrest General's post-hearing brief. This is important because the parties submit post-hearing briefs simultaneously following a CON hearing. Forrest General's brief (and thus the Hearing Officer's final opinion) includes no consideration of the issues raised by Wesley following the Hearing. While it is axiomatic that parties submit post-hearing briefs in order to assist the Hearing Officer in making a final recommendation to the Department, it is not appropriate for the Hearing Officer merely to adopt into one party's brief (including misstatements contained therein), and fail even to acknowledge the other party's arguments. The Hearing Officer's action in this regard calls into serious question whether adequate consideration was actually given to both sides of the issues in this matter.

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The summary of Wesley's argument on this appeal is very simple: in its decision to approve Forrest General's Application, the Department completely ignored its own rules and requirements, as well as the evidence presented in the Hearing on this matter. Specifically, the Hearing Officer recommended approval of an Application which the evidence clearly demonstrated:

- 1. failed to satisfy the economic viability requirement;
- 2. was an attempt to relocate a portion of a service (orthopedics), which the Department's own representative testified is not permitted;
- 3. seeks a project that is unneeded; and
- 4. will unquestionably NOT promote cost containment.

Economic Viability

The evidence in this matter, largely supplied by Forrest General's own Chief Financial Officer, demonstrated without any question that Forrest General's orthopedic program has lost money in the past, is losing money now, and will continue to lose money after this proposal is in place. The evidence demonstrated further that in preparing the CON Application, Forrest General's financial personnel gave little or no real thought to the compilation of expense items and revenue calculations. Instead, they guessed. They speculated. And in so doing, they omitted numerous expenses and understated others. The result of the inquiry was a clear answer – that this project will NOT make money by the end of its third year of operation. That instead, a service area which, at Forrest General, has been losing millions of dollars annually, will be, in part, relocated to a more expensive setting where the very factors that have been the cause of the annual losses to date will actually get worse. There is no way the Department can reasonably have come to the conclusion that this project meets the economic viability requirement. And it is

just that – a requirement. For this reason alone, as is set forth in detail herein, the Application must be disapproved. The Department and the Chancellor simply made the wrong decision in refusing to recognize this issue as a "deal-breaker."

Relocating a Portion of a Service

At the Hearing, the Department's own representative testified that a portion of a service area, such as orthopedics, cannot be relocated under the State Health Plan and the Certificate of Need Review Manual. Underlying this testimony was his stated belief that Forrest General's Application was, nonetheless, approvable, because Forrest General did not propose to relocate a portion of its orthopedic service, but the whole service. When the evidence adduced from Forrest General thereafter demonstrated the contrary – that Forrest General absolutely plans to relocate only a portion of its orthopedic service (30 of 37 beds) – the Hearing Officer simply ignored that evidence and recommended approval anyway. The Department's approval of that recommendation is reversible error.

No Need Exists

As is fully discussed herein, Forrest General's entire argument regarding the alleged need for this facility is based on what it contends is the outdated state of its current physical plant, specifically the size of some of its patient rooms and the width of the doorways between the rooms and the bathrooms. Forrest General's entire argument breaks down, however, due to the simple fact that it is relocating only part of its orthopedic service. If Forrest General's need argument is to be believed, then one would have to conclude (1) that renovation of Forrest General's facilities is not a possibility (which the evidence at the Hearing showed is not the case); and (2) that only SBJ's patients need larger rooms and wider doorways, while the patients

³ The Department's assumption was not ill-founded, as Forrest General's Application never indicated that anything less than the entirety of its orthopedic service was proposed for relocation. *See*, e.g., CON App. Section III, Item 7, under No. 10 (will "relocate existing orthopedic services and staff" – no indication of less than 100%).

of the Hattiesburg Clinic physicians are just fine in the current facility. Because of the discrepancy in treatment of these two separate groups of physicians, both of whom do the majority of their orthopedic practice at Forrest General, Forrest General's need argument fails.

Otherwise, Forrest General identifies nothing in support of its need argument other than the fact that doing this project will significantly enhance the hospital's relationship with the SBJ physicians. That simply is not a legitimate basis for a finding of need. As is detailed in the following pages, there is no need for this facility.

There is No Evidence of Cost Containment

Forrest General's orthopedic service is losing \$2 to 3 million annually. Here, they propose to provide orthopedic services in not one, but two locations – increasing operational expenses, increasing capital costs, and requiring duplicative personnel, equipment, and services. There is NO evidence of cost containment. This project will cost more and result in greater losses on orthopedics than Forrest General is experiencing now.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The scope of review of an appeal of a final order of the Department is controlled by Miss. Code Ann. §41-7-201(2)(f), which provides in part that:

[t]he order shall not be vacated or set aside, either in whole or in part, except for errors of law, unless the court finds that the order . . . is not supported by substantial evidence, is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence, is in excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the [Department], or violates any vested constitutional rights of any party involved in the appeal. . . .

(Emphasis added).

Appellees likely will contend that this standard is set so high as to be virtually unreachable. It is not, nor was it intended to be. For while courts have uniformly recognized the existence of a presumption in favor of the Department (or any state agency), the statute expressly

recognizes that the Department can "get it wrong." Furthermore, when the Department does get it wrong, the statute mandates that the right decision must be imposed by an appellate body. Indeed, as this Court has held on many occasions in the specific context of certificates of need, any decision by the Department that is not supported by substantial evidence OR that is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence not only may be reversed — it must be reversed. See Mississippi State Department of Health, et al. v. Natchez Community Hospital, 743 So.2d 973, 977 (Miss. 1999) (attached as App. A), citing Mississippi Real Estate Comm'n v. Anding, 732 So.2d 192, 196 (Miss.1999). And, while "substantial evidence" has been defined by this Court as "more than a scintilla," Mississippi Code Annotated §41-7-201 recognizes that even in cases in which "more than a scintilla" of evidence exists to support the Department's decision, if that decision is, nonetheless, contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence, it must still be reversed. In other words, where the Department's decision may have a minute body of evidence supporting it, but the majority of the evidence presented is to the contrary, that decision cannot stand.

Here, the Department's decision is unquestionably contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence on at least two points – either of which, alone, requires reversal. Specifically, the vast majority of evidence presented at the Hearing on the issue of economic viability established that Forrest General failed entirely to prove that this new orthopedic facility will be profitable by the end of its third year of operation. In addition, Forrest General was unable to demonstrate any true need for this project. Instead, the evidence showed that if this project goes forward, it will compromise the very existence of Forrest General's already struggling orthopedic service line.

In addition, the Department clearly exceeded its statutory authority in allowing Forrest General to relocate only a portion of its orthopedic service. In ignoring these critical factors, the Chancellor committed similar error to that committed by the Department. The Department's decision in this matter simply does not pass muster under the statutory standard of review. That decision must be reversed.

B. THE DETERMINATION THAT THIS APPLICATION IS ECONOMICALLY VIABLE IS CONTRARY TO THE MANIFEST WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

The most glaring failure by Forrest General to meet the requirements for approval of its CON Application was the absence of evidence sufficient to establish that the project is economically viable. Indeed, the testimony from its own CFO, Ed Tucker, was most damaging of all. On direct, Tucker recited all of Forrest General's "talking points" – stating that he had taken a "conservative approach" and that this plan offers an "opportunity for economic improvement." When questioned about the details of his financial analysis, however, Tucker crumbled, recognizing that, at best, this project is "more feasible" than the current operation, which he acknowledged is regularly losing \$2 to \$3 million a year. The Hearing Officer and the Chancellor gave credence to the first part of Tucker's testimony and apparently disregarded the rest. Their action in so doing was inappropriate and resulted in wrong decisions. This issue alone requires reversal of the Department's decision.

In order to demonstrate economic viability, every application must satisfy General Review Criterion 4, which provides as follows:

Economic Viability: The immediate and long-term financial feasibility of the proposal, as well as the probable effect of the proposal on the costs and charges for providing health services by the institution or service. Projections should be reasonable and based upon generally accepted accounting procedures.

- a. The proposed charges should be comparable to those charges established by other facilities for similar services within the service area or state. The applicant should document how the proposed charges were calculated.
- b. The projected levels of utilization should be reasonably consistent with those experienced by similar facilities in the service area and/or state. In addition, projected levels of utilization should be consistent with the need level of the service area.

c. If the capital expenditure of the proposed project is \$2,000,000 or more, the applicant must submit a financial feasibility study prepared by an accountant, CPA, or the facility's financial officer. The study must include the financial analyst's opinion of the ability of the facility to undertake the obligation and the probable effect of the expenditure on present and future operating costs. In addition, the report must be signed by the preparer.

CON Review Manual at 57 (Hrg. Ex. 6). To satisfy this requirement, the Department has consistently required that every applicant must show that its project will be profitable by the end of its third year of operation. Every applicant knows (or should know) when it prepares an application that its financials must satisfy this standard. Forrest General, being no stranger to the CON application process, certainly was aware of this requirement before it ever filed its Application. The Department's Chief of the Division of Planning, Sam Dawkins, testified on the first day of the Hearing in this matter. He left no doubt that if Forrest General's project could not be shown to be profitable by year three, then its Application would have to be disapproved.⁴ Dawkins at 53-54 (R.E. 4).

Before reviewing the evidence that was presented at the Hearing, (which must be done on appeal in order to determine where the "manifest weight of the evidence" lay at the close of the

In its proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law, submitted to the Hearing Officer for consideration, Forrest General suggested that an application might be deemed to satisfy this criterion simply by showing that its **rate of loss** each year will decrease, and that it merely holds the promise of becoming profitable in some year after the third. The Chancellor even noted in her Opinion that Tucker stated that the "key question for him" regarding the proposal's economics was "whether the proposed orthopedic facility would be **more feasible** than the current operation [which is losing millions a year]." Chancellor's Opinion at 15 (R.E. 2). By adopting Forrest General's brief as her opinion, the Hearing Officer also picked up on this suggestion – as did the Chancellor after her. *See* Hrg. Off. Op. at 27-28 (R.E. 3); Chancellor's Opinion at 14 (R.E. 2). There is NO AUTHORITY in any Department rule, regulation or manual for such a proposition. Instead, as Mr. Dawkins confirmed, the Department's rules are directly to the contrary.

In suggesting that Forrest General's Application might be approvable if it merely loses less each successive year after this proposed facility is up and running, the Hearing Officer and the Chancellor both essentially applied a different definition and a lower standard for economic viability than that mandated by the Department's own rules and regulations. That action constitutes reversible error. Forrest General may not be held to a lower standard than that imposed by the Department on all other applicants. See St. Dominic-Jackson Memorial Hospital v. Mississippi State Department of Health, 728 So.2d 81, 85 (Miss. 1998) (Department reversed for applying a lessened standard of need, contrary to its own definitions).

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