IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

WESLEY MEDICAL CENTER

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-SA-01276

MISSISSIPPI STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH and FORREST GENERAL HOSPITAL

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

JOINT BRIEF OF APPELLEES MISSISSIPPI STATE DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND FORREST GENERAL HOSPITAL

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Bea M. Tolsdorf
Special Assistant Attorney General
Mississippi State Department of Health
P. O. Box 1700
Jackson, MS 39215-1700
(601) 576-7458

Counsel for Mississippi State Department of Health

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This is an appeal of an administrative decision of the Department of Health. Forrest General has proposed the establishment of a dedicated Orthopedic Institute through the relocation of thirty (30) existing, licensed orthopedic beds. Consistent with the requirements of the Mississippi Certificate of Need Law, Miss. Code Ann. §§ 41-7-171, et seq., Forrest General filed a CON Application with the Department, and proceeded through an exhaustive administrative review of the proposal. As part of that process, a three-day public hearing was

conducted before an independent Hearing Officer. At the conclusion of the administrative process, the Department of Health staff, the independent Hearing Officer, and the State Health Officer all agreed that Forrest General's application complied with all applicable CON standards and criteria.

Following the administrative approval of the project by the Department of Health, Wesley Medical Center, a local competitor of Forrest General, appealed the administrative decision to Hinds County Chancery Court. The Chancery Court considered both written and oral arguments of counsel for all parties, and affirmed the Department's decision.

Wesley is now before this Court and asserts two basic lines of argument in its appeal. First, Wesley contends that there was not adequate evidence before the Department of Health to support the Department's decision in three areas: (1) the economic viability of the project; (2) the need for the project; and (3) cost containment. Secondly, Wesley advances a novel (and wholly unsupported) argument that a "partial relocation" of health services is illegal under the Mississippi Certificate of Need Law. These arguments are contrary to both Mississippi law and the evidence in the administrative record.

First, there is substantial evidence in the administrative record to support the Department's finding that the project proposed by Forrest General is economically viable. During the hearing, Forrest General's Chief Financial Officer testified extensively about the financial projections for the project and the economic viability of the Orthopedic Institute. He used a detailed financial exhibit to explain the economic assumptions and projections for the facility. Although Wesley questioned various assumptions in the financial model, it did not present any substantial or credible evidence to refute those assumptions. Instead, Wesley offered the testimony of a health care consultant who presented a fundamentally flawed economic model in an effort to challenge the financial viability of the project. In the end, the Administrative

Hearing Officer accepted the testimony of Forrest General's Chief Financial Officer as the more credible. Clearly, there is substantial evidence to support this administrative fact-finding, and that finding should not be disturbed on appeal.

Similarly, there was substantial and, in fact, overwhelming evidence presented at the administrative hearing to demonstrate the need for the project. A variety of witnesses, including Forrest General Hospital's Chief Executive Officer, a health care facility planner, two physicians, a physician clinic administrator and the chief of the Department's CON program, all testified about the need for the Orthopedic Institute. These witnesses discussed in detail why the project was needed to replace Forrest General's outdated orthopedic facilities, to enhance the offering of orthopedic services to the public, to improve clinical efficiency, to lower health care costs, and to significantly improve overall patient care. There was also considerable testimony about how the Orthopedic Institute would enhance Forrest General's participation in the Statewide Trauma Program as a Level II facility.

In its Brief, Wesley cites its own evidence in opposition to the project, but fails to acknowledge that Forrest General presented more than substantial evidence to demonstrate the need for its proposal. It is clear that this evidence substantiates the Department's decision to approve the Forrest General CON Application.

Additionally, there is substantial evidence in the administrative record to support the Department of Health's finding that the project will promote cost containment. Several Forrest General witnesses testified that the Orthopedic Institute would achieve cost savings through greater operational efficiency, reduced length of stay and enhanced savings on the ordering and use of medical devices. Additionally, the Department staff concluded that the construction cost of the facility is reasonable and consistent with the cost of other projects approved by the Department in the past. In contrast, Wesley did not present any substantial evidence to show that

the project will violate the policy of cost containment. One of Wesley's witnesses suggested that the project would add cost to the area's health care system, but did not explain how this would happen or offer any facts or evidence to support this claim. Once again, there is more than substantial evidence to support the Department's finding on this issue.

Finally, there is no merit whatsoever to Wesley's contention that the relocation of part of a health service is not permitted by the Mississippi CON Law. The CON Law has no such prohibition. The CON statute merely states that a CON is required for "the relocation of one or more health services from one physical facility or site to another physical facility or site." *Miss. Code Ann.* § 41-7-191(1)(e). Wesley insists that this language **must** be interpreted to mean that a partial relocation of services is not allowed. However, the statute does not state, or even suggest that. In fact, there is no way that such a meaning can be ascribed to that statute without adding more language to the statute. In effect, Wesley is asking the Court to add a new requirement to the statute; i.e., a prohibition against the partial relocation of health services. However, as this Court has made clear, the Court's function is to interpret statutes, and not to amplify the statutes with words and provisions not contemplated by the Legislature.

In conclusion, Wesley's arguments consist of (1) a flawed and unsupported legal theory, and (2) an improper request for this Court to re-weigh the evidence presented at the hearing, and to ignore the substantial evidence which supports the Department's findings. These arguments have no merit, and the Chancery Court's final judgment, which upheld the Department of Health's decision, should be affirmed.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Scope of Judicial Review in Certificate of Need Appeals is Narrow and Limited.

On numerous occasions, this Court has delineated the scope of judicial review in certificate of need appeals. As stated in St. Dominic-Jackson Memorial Hospital v. Mississippi

State Department of Health, 728 So. 2d 81, 83 (Miss. 1998), the State Health Officer's granting of a certificate of need is subject to judicial review, but it:

shall not be vacated or set aside, either in whole or in part, except for errors of law, unless the Court finds that the order . . . is not supported by substantial evidence, is contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence, is in excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the . . . Department . . ., or violates any vested constitutional rights of any part involved in the appeal.

St. Dominic, 728 So. 2d at 83 (citing Magnolia Hosp. v. Miss. State Dep't of Health, 559 So. 2d 1042, 1044 (Miss. 1990); Miss. Code Ann § 41-7-201(4) (Supp. 2000); see also Miss. State Dep't of Health v. Miss. Baptist Med. Ctr., 663 So. 2d 563, 573 (Miss. 1995).

Similarly, in *Grant Center Hospital of Mississippi v. Health Group of Jackson, Mississippi, Inc.*, 528 So. 2d 804, 808 (Miss. 1988), the Court established clear limitations on judicial review of CON decisions by the Department of Health:

These restrictions put two hotly disputed points outside our authority. These are (1) whether there is a need for additional beds for psychiatric care of children and adolescents and (2) which applicant, all things considered, is best able to fulfill that need

Grant Center, 528 So. 2d at 808 (emphasis added). The Supreme Court has consistently emphasized that it is beyond the legal authority of a reviewing court to determine whether there is a need for a given health service by an applicant seeking a certificate of need. Instead, the role of the Court is to determine whether there is substantial evidence to support the Department of Health's decision. Jeff Anderson Reg'l Med. Ctr. v. Miss. State Dep't of Health, 798 So. 2d 1264, 1266 (Miss. 2001).

It is well-settled that the "[d]ecisions of administrative agencies are given great deference." *Jackson HMA, Inc. v. Miss. State Dep't of Health*, 822 So.2d 968, 970 (Miss. 2002). In these appeals, the "burden of proof rests on the challenging party to prove that [the Department of Health] erred." *Id.*

In the decision of Attala County Board of Supervisors v. Mississippi State Department of Health, 867 So.2d 1019 (Miss. 2004), the Supreme Court again emphasized the standards of judicial review when an appeal is taken from a Final Order of the Mississippi State Department of Health:

The decision rendered by the hearing officer and the SHO [State Health Officer] is "afforded great deference upon judicial review by the court, even though we review the decision of the chancellor."...

There is a rebuttable presumption in favor of the decision rendered by an agency. . . . "[T]he burden of proving to the contrary is on the challenging party.". . . This Court, as well as, chancery and circuit courts, cannot "substitute its judgment for that of the agency or reweigh the facts of the case.". . .

Our constitution does not allow for the courts to conduct a de novo retrial of matters on appeal from administrative agencies.... The judiciary is not permitted to make administrative decisions.... Therefore, this Court has recognized the strict limitation set out in Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-201(2)(f) for appellate review in our courts as to decisions of the SHO and the MSDH.

867 So.2d at 1023-35 (citations omitted).

In the Attala County Board of Supervisors decision, the Court held that the methodology utilized by the Department staff in its review of competing CON applications was not arbitrary or capricious. Further, the Court noted that in previous certificate of need cases, it has emphasized the flexibility and discretion vested in the Department of Health in conducting CON review:

The methodology used in any given case should not be carved in granite; instead, some flexibility is required. It is prudent to utilize a methodology that will accommodate the various and sundry circumstances found in each individual case.

867 So.2d at 1024, quoting HTI Health Services of Mississippi, Inc. v. Mississippi State Department of Health, 603 So.2d 848, 853 (Miss. 1992).

In the same decision, the Court noted that an administrative agency's decision is deemed to be arbitrary only "when it is not done according to reason and judgment, but depending on will alone." 867 So.2d at 1024, quoting *Mississippi State Department of Health v. Natchez Community Hospital*, 743 So.2d 973, 977 (Miss. 1999). Further, an action is defined as being capricious when it is "done without reason, in a whimsical manner, implying either a lack of understanding of or disregard for the surrounding facts and settled controlling principles." *Id.*

B. The Department of Health's Decision Should Be Affirmed When it is Supported by Substantial Evidence.

In its Brief, Wesley discusses the standard of judicial review and attempts to draw a distinction between "substantial evidence" and "manifest weight of the evidence." Regardless of the nomenclature which is used, this Court's decisions over the course of many years reveal the true standard which applies to the judicial review of administrative agency decisions.

In the recent decision of *Greenwood Leflore Hospital v. Mississippi State Department of Health*, 980 So.2d 931 (Miss. 2008), the Court described the standard of review in CON appeals as follows:

This Court has stated that "substantial evidence" as used in Mississippi Code Annotated Section 41-7-201(2)(f) means "more than a scintilla or a suspicion." *Miss. State Dep't of Health v. Natchez Cmty. Hosp.*, 743 So. 2d 973, 977 (Miss. 1999) (citing *Miss. Real Estate Comm'n v. Anding*, 732 So. 2d 192, 196 (Miss. 1999)). Further, an administrative agency's decision is "arbitrary and capricious" when it is not made "according to reason and judgment. . [but] in a whimsical manner." *Id.* at 977 (citing *Burks v. Amite County Sch. Dist.*, 708 So. 2d 1366, 1370 (Miss. 1998)).

Id. at 935. Similarly, in Mississippi State Department of Health v. Baptist Memorial Hospital-DeSoto, Inc., 984 So.2d 967 (Miss. 2008), the Court emphasized throughout the opinion that a "presumption of validity" is attached to the Department's CON decisions, and that the key issue is whether "substantial evidence, i.e., 'more than a scintilla or a suspicion'" is present in the

administrative record to support the Department's findings. *Id.* at 975, quoting Natchez Cmty. Hosp., 743 So.2d at 977. See also Miss. State Dep't of Health, 984 So.2d at 977-981.

In Mississippi State Department of Health v. Rush Care, Inc., 882 So.2d 205 (Miss. 2004), this Court held that the Department of Health's decision should be affirmed where it is supported by substantial evidence and is not arbitrary and capricious, even if the Department used an imperfect analysis in its findings. Id. at 210-211. There, the Court found that the Department's findings were supported by substantial evidence, and that the Court should not substitute its judgment for that of the Department. Id. at 210.

The requirement of proof of substantial evidence does not charge the Court with reweighing the evidence, but rather determining whether the administrative agency itself had substantial evidence upon which to base its findings. Miss. Employment Sec. Comm'n v. Culbertson, 832 So.2d 519 (Miss. 2002). As long as there is substantial evidence in the record to support the agency decision, "the appellate court must affirm even were that court to feel that the preponderance of the evidence supported a different outcome." Miss. Employment Sec. Comm'n v. Claiborne, 872 So.2d 698 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). For purposes of reviewing whether an agency's finding is supported by substantial evidence, "substantial evidence is not an especially large quantum." Miss. Dep't of Transp. v. Rutland, 965 So.2d 696, 703 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). There may be substantial evidence in the record to support one party's view, and in the same record substantial evidence to support the opposite view. Id.

In summary, this Court and the Court of Appeals have clearly and consistently defined the standard of judicial review of administrative agency decisions. The Court does not reweigh the evidence or substitute its judgment for that of the administrative agency. The Court does not view the evidence in a light more favorable to one party than the other. Instead, the Court examines whether there is substantial evidence (i.e., more than a "scintilla" or "suspicion") to

support the ultimate findings made by the administrative agency. If so, the Court will affirm the agency's decision, as long as it is not otherwise arbitrary or capricious.

Applying those standards to the present appeal, Wesley bears the burden of overcoming the "presumption of validity" of the Department's decision and must prove that Forrest General presented no more than a mere "scintilla" of evidence or a "suspicion" to support the Department's findings on economic viability, the need for the project and cost containment. Wesley must prove that the Department's decision to grant the CON to Forrest General was reached "in a whimsical manner," with a "lack of understanding of or disregard for the surrounding facts."

C. There is Substantial Evidence in the Administrative Record to Demonstrate that Forrest General's Proposal is in Full Compliance with All Applicable CON Criteria and Standards.

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